ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County  
Honorable Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

OCT 31 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MARQUIS MCDONALD,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002181

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

NICHOLAS MERMIGES  
Principal

Law Office of Nick Mermiges, LLC  
1720 Main St. #202  
Columbia, SC 29201  
803-587-0472

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN PERMITTING AT&T'S RECORDS CUSTODIAN, JAMES DOBBINS, TO TESTIFY TO THE LOCATION OF CELLULAR PHONES WITHOUT QUALIFYING HIM AS AN EXPERT UNDER RULE 702?
- 2) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN PERMITTING SLED AGENT, MEGAN LUKACS, TO TESTIFY AS TO THE LOCATION OF CELLULAR PHONES WITHOUT PROPERLY QUALIFYING HER AS AN EXPERT UNDER RULE 702?
- 3) DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS RULING REGARDING EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S PRIOR FELONY CONVICTION UNDER RULE 609 AND RULE 403?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Horry County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder and armed robbery. His case came on for trial on October 6, 2014 before the Honorable Markley Dennis, and a jury. Gregory McCollum, Esq. represented the appellant and Bradley Richardson, Esq. and Travis Hyman, Esq. represented the state. (R. p. 1).

On October 9, 2014 the jury found appellant guilty of both offenses. Judge Dennis sentenced the Appellant to 45 year for murder, and 30 years for armed robbery, to run concurrently.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This unfortunate case arises from a drug deal gone bad. On February 26, 2013, appellant, Marquis McDonald, had planned to purchase marijuana from the victim, Anthony Liddell, a student at Coastal Carolina. It is undisputed that Mr. McDonald drove his uncle's car to the Coastal Carolina campus to meet with Mr. Liddell. Also present at the scene was Stephon "Black" McClain, who was separately charged and did not testify at appellant's trial. Appellant, McClain and Liddell all met in appellant's car, apparently to finalize a drug purchase. The record evidence reveals that Mr. McDonald was in the driver's seat, Mr. McClain was in the front passenger seat, and Mr. Liddell was in the back seat of the vehicle. (R. p. 312, line 10 – p. 313, line 7). An eyewitness testified that at some point a fight broke out, shots were fired, and Mr. Liddell was killed. (R. p. 74, line 7 – R. p. 78, line 18). Ballistics taken from inside the car tended to show that the shots were fired from the passenger seat of the vehicle. (R. p. 259, line 10 – p. 261, line 24).

Mr. McDonald testified in his own defense and stated that he had purchased marijuana from Mr. Liddell before, and that he intended to purchase marijuana again on the night in question. He had no intention of committing a robbery. (R. p. 513, lines 1-6). Mr. McDonald testified that he had no idea Mr. McClain would pull a gun, or shoot anyone. (R. p. 516, lines 6-17). After the shooting occurred, Mr. McDonald fled the scene, alone, in his uncle's vehicle.

After the incident, Mr. McDonald's car was recovered. A search of the car revealed no shell casings, no live rounds, no hand guns, no cell phones, no marijuana, and no cash. (R. p. 225, lines 8-28; R. p. 252, lines 6-14). The murder weapon was never recovered, no marijuana was ever recovered, and the victim's cell phone was never recovered. (R. p. 402, lines 6-10). The state's only eyewitness did not identify Mr. McDonald as the shooter, and her testimony of seeing two gunshots at close proximity during a fight was contradicted by physical evidence including the absence of stippling on the victim and defects (i.e., bullet holes) inside of Mr. McDonald's vehicle. (R. p. 259, line 10 – p. 261, line 24; R. p. 434 lines 2-5). The record is devoid of any evidence of gunshot residue, blood spatter, or other physical evidence tending to show that Mr. McDonald shot the weapon. It is likewise devoid of any communication between Mr. McDonald and Mr. McClain relating to a robbery – rather, the state only presented evidence of the intention to purchase marijuana. (R. p. 489, lines 4-17).

Throughout the case, the state introduced lay testimony tending regarding the locations of the cellular phones of the victim, the appellant and Mr. McClain. This evidence included "phone maps" and "GPS tracking," which the Court relied upon in denying the

Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict. (R. p. 477, lines 1-22; R. p. 489, line 2 p. 490, line 9.)

ARGUMENT

- 1) THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING AT&T'S RECORDS CUSTODIAN, JAMES DOBBINS, TO TESTIFY TO THE LOCATION OF CELLULAR PHONES WITHOUT QUALIFYING HIM AS AN EXPERT UNDER RULE 702.

During its case in chief, the state called James Dobbins, a private contractor for AT&T, and presented him as a "records custodian" for AT&T. (R. p. 125, lines 6-15). While Mr. Dobbins initially testified as to types of records AT&T keeps in the regular course of business, Mr. Dobbins went on to testify that AT&T's records include "the location of your phone where the call originated." (R. p. 125, lines 5-16). Mr. Dobbins then specifically began to explain how AT&T's cell phone towers interact with users' cellphones in order to find their location:

Q. Okay. And so whenever you're talking about the location of a cell phone, you're talking about with regard to a tower?

A. A tower or an area covered by a tower, yes.

Q Okay, okay. And I'm sorry for mish-moshing the terminology a little bit. Now, it's a radio signal. I'm sure we've all seen cell towers and passed down the road. How does a certain phone call determine which tower to bounce off of? You may have already answered that.

A Yeah, it will typically go to the tower that's nearest.

Q Okay.

A. But if it's congested, it could go to a secondary tower or -- and pass along the towers as you move from one location to another.

Q Okay. Now, that information regarding tower location --

(R. p. 130, line 1 – p. 131 line 6).

Counsel for the Appellant then objected and advised the Court that the state was using the witness to introduce expert testimony. The Court asked the state whether they were “offering [Mr. Dobbins] as an expert witness,” to which the state replied in the negative. (R. p. 131, lines 7-22). The Court then permitted testimony to continue, without conducting the required analysis relating to qualifications or reliability as required by rule 702, or otherwise instructing the jury on the testimony it had just received. The witness went on to reiterate that AT&T stores “latitude and longitude,” “tower location,” and “the location that the call started and stopped on.” (R. p. 131, line 32 – p. 132, line 13). The State reiterated these statements during continued questioning, specifically asking the witness to explain how “call location” corresponds with the particular date and time of a call from a specific number. (R. p. 135, line 10 – p. 138, line 21). The state used the specific phone numbers elicited through Mr. Dobbin’s testimony to identify the phone of the victim, and subsequently argued that *the location data of the victim’s phone* was evidence of the robbery. (R. p. 320, lines 8 – 25; R. p. 489, line 20 – p. 490, line 11). This phone location evidence was, in fact *the only evidence of robbery presented by the state in opposition to Appellant’s motion for directed verdict.*

SCRE 620 provides:

A witness may testify to a matter only if evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter. Evidence to prove personal knowledge may consist of the witness’s own testimony. This rule does not apply to a witness’s expert testimony under Rule 703.

Further, SCRE 701 provides:

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.

Finally, SCRE 702 provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

“[A] lay witness may only testify as to matters within his personal knowledge and may not offer opinion testimony which requires special knowledge, skill, experience, or training.” *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 446 (2010). Mr. Dobbins was not present when any of these calls were made, and does not have personal knowledge of where they were actually made from. Rather, Mr. Dobbins’ testimony regarding the manner in which cellular phone towers interact with cell phones and radio signals in order to record a phone’s location clearly requires “special knowledge, skill, experience or training,” such that before Mr. Dobbins could provide such testimony, he would need to be qualified as an expert pursuant to rule 702. *See e.g., US v. EADY*, 2013 WL 4680527 (D.SC 2013) (conducting *Daubert*/702 analysis for cell phone location testimony); *United States v. Yeley–Davis*, 632 F.3d 673, 684 (10th Cir.2011) (same); *U.S. v. Reynolds*, --- Fed.Appx. ----, (6th Cir. 2015) (same); *U.S. v. Machado-Erazo*, 950 F. Supp 2d 49 (DDC 2013) (same); *Collins v. State*, 172 So. 3d 724 (Miss. 2015) (same); *State v. Patton*, 419 S.W.3d 125, 132 (Mo. Ct.App.2013) (same); *Wilder v. State*, 191 Md.App. 319, 991 A.2d 172, 180 (Mo. Ct. App. 2010) (same).

“[T]he trial courts of this state have a gatekeeping rule with respect to all evidence sought to be admitted under Rule 702, whether the evidence is scientific or nonscientific. In the discharge of its gatekeeping rule, a trial court **must assess the threshold foundational requirements of qualifications and reliability** and further find that the proposed evidence will assist the trier of fact.” *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 274 (2009) (emphasis added); *see also State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1 (1999).

Mr. Dobbins’ testimony was not limited to authenticating business records that would otherwise be hearsay (i.e., the traditional role of a records custodian). Rather, Mr. Dobbins’ testimony included a detailed explanation of a highly technical and specialized part of the cellular phone industry. The “location” information, which was based on this specialized testimony, was then presented as irrefutable evidence of the physical location of the phones of the appellant, his alleged co-conspirator, and the victim. The Court never conducted any inquiry regarding Mr. Dobbins’ qualifications to provide this critical testimony, and moreover, did not make any inquiry regarding the reliability of Mr. Dobbins’ opinions.

Mr. Dobbins’ testimony, which was clearly admitted in error, and without the mandated rule 702 analysis, permeated the remaining portion of the state’s case.<sup>1</sup> Cell phone location evidence was referenced throughout the trial on a number of occasions, including:

- The State, in its opening, argued that phone evidence and “GPS Tracking” would prove the Appellant’s guilt. (R. p. 28, lines 14-25; R. p. 32, lines 5 – 12).
- “Phone Maps” tracking the movements of the Appellant’s phone, the alleged co-conspirator’s phone, and the victim’s phone, were presented by SLED Agent Megan Lukacs to the jury. (R. p. 477, line 1 – p. 486 line 13; Trial Exhibits on File).

---

<sup>1</sup> SLED Agent Megan Lukacs supplied similar lay testimony over counsel’s objection, addressed *infra*.

- Because the victim's cell phone was never recovered, his phone location was the evidence that the Court relied upon in finding that the State had satisfied the *corpus delicti* requirement of the armed robbery charge, denying Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict. (R. p. 489, line 2 – p. 490, line 3).
- The State, in its closing, argued that the "victim's cell phone was taken away" to establish guilt for armed robbery. (R. p. 562, lines 1-11).
- The State, in its closing, further referred to phone locations as evidence of guilt. (R. p. 572, lines 12-21).

These numerous, specific references do not adequately account for what a large role the cell phone location information played in the State's case. The mapping data formed the backbone of the State's theory of the case, and their narrative as to how each event occurred during the date in question.

Given the absence of any eyewitnesses identifying Mr. McDonald as the shooter, the absence of any murder weapon, the absence of any shell casings in Mr. McDonald's vehicle, the ballistic evidence tending to show that Mr. McDonald's passenger *and not Mr. McDonald* fired a weapon, and the absence of any physical evidence which would satisfy the *corpus delicti* requirement of the armed robbery charge, there can be no doubt that the improper admission of this cellphone data was not a mere harmless error. It was deeply prejudicial to the Appellant, and likely tipped the scales, resulting in his conviction. Moreover, the Appellant was prejudiced because he was not put on notice that the State planned to introduce the aforementioned expert testimony, which prevented Appellant from securing his own expert who could contest the underlying credibility of this evidence. *Wilder*, 991 A. 2d 127 at 196-197 ("By channeling testimony that is actually expert testimony to Rule 702, the [2000] amendment [to Federal Rule 701] also

ensures that a party will not evade the expert witness disclosure requirements... simply by calling an expert witness in the guise of a layperson.")

The reliability of cell phone tower data has been repeatedly called into question<sup>2</sup>, and even *expert testimony* on cell phone location information has been found *unreliable and inadmissible* by at least one federal court.<sup>3</sup> The trial court's decision to admit this testimony without determining the qualifications of the witness and the reliability of the underlying opinion was contrary to law and deprived the Appellant of a fair trial.

**2) THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING SLED AGENT, MEGAN LUKACS, TO TESTIFY AS TO THE LOCATION OF CELLULAR PHONES WITHOUT PROPERLY QUALIFYING HER AS AN EXPERT UNDER RULE 702.**

The State went on to call SLED analyst Megan Lukacs during its case in chief. Agent Lukacs initially testified about "mapping the call records" using information from cellular towers. (R. p. 468, lines 1-15). Prior to her providing any of the "maps" she had plotted based upon cell phone location data, Defense counsel raised the 702 issue with the court. The Court specifically permitted the witness to continue this line of testimony, stating "she certainly can render a 701 opinion." (R. p. 472, lines 3-15). Defense counsel again raised the matter during the course of Agent Lukacs' testimony, after the state attempted to admit the "map" she had generated as evidence. (R. p. 475, line 6 – p 476, line 18). The Court then appeared to conduct an incomplete analysis pursuant to rule 702, making no attempt to determine the reliability of Agent Lukacs' testimony, and allowed her testimony to continue.

---

<sup>2</sup> "PROSECUTORS' USE OF MOBILE PHONE TRACKING IS 'JUNK SCIENCE,' CRITICS SAY," ABA JOURNAL, June 1, 2013; "EXPERTS SAY LAW ENFORCEMENT'S USE OF CELLPHONE RECORDS CAN BE INACCURATE," WASHINGTON POST, June 27, 2014.

<sup>3</sup> *United States v. Evans*, 892 F.Supp.2d 949, 954 (N.D.Ill.2012).

The State went on to admit three exhibits (38, 39 and 40) which were “call records maps” for the Appellant’s cellphone, the alleged co-conspirator’s cellphone, and the victim’s cellphone (R. p. 479, lines 2-19). Agent Lukacs testified, referring to the maps, as to the location of specific phones at specific times on the date of the crime. (R. p. 480, line 9 – p. 486, line 13).

By her own admission, Agent Lukacs was not present at the scene of the crime, and did not personally retrieve any cell phones. Rather, she was merely tasked with analyzing data, with the assistance of specialized software, to formulate an opinion as to the locations of the Appellant, the victim, and the alleged Co-Conspirator on the date of the incident. Using this specialized software, Agent Lukacs produced three “maps” showing movements throughout the day, which were then introduced into evidence.

Given the highly technical and specialized nature of this analysis, Agent Lukacs’ testimony regarding locations of specific phones and specific times is not properly admitted as lay testimony.<sup>4</sup> Rather, her qualifications and the reliability of her opinions should have been subjected to the appropriate Rule 702 analysis. While the South Carolina Supreme Court has not answered the specific question of whether cell phone location testimony (of the kind offered by Agent Lukacs) must always be considered “expert” testimony, other courts have considered the issue in depth.

In *State v. Collins*, the Mississippi Supreme Court, citing a Maryland appeals court, recently considered the specific question of whether cell phone “mapping” testimony must be treated as expert testimony, and concluded that it should:

---

<sup>4</sup> For the sake of brevity, appellant has not re-stated each case cited in its first argument, but incorporates them herein by reference.

The Maryland court recognized that "cellular telephone technology has become generally understood." [...] It also acknowledged that certain information regarding cell phone bills may be readily discerned by a juror familiar with his own cell phone bill. *Id.* However, it noted that the detective's testimony "implicated much more than mere telephone bills." *Id.* He had "elaborated on the information provided by the cell phone records — the bills and records of calls — by his use of a Microsoft software program to plot location data on a map and to convert information from the cellular phone records in order to plot the locations from which [the appellant] used his cell phone[;]" which the court found "required some specialized knowledge or skill not in the possession of the jurors." *Id.* at 199-200. The court ultimately held that "the better approach is to require the prosecution to offer expert testimony to explain the functions of cell phone towers, derivative tracking, and the techniques of locating and/or plotting the origins of cell phone calls using cell phone records." [...] This is because the detective's "description of the procedures he employed to plot the map of [the appellant's] cell phone hits was not commonplace. Because his explanation of the method he employed to translate the cell phone records into locations is demonstrably based on his training and experience[;]" thus, the court concluded that the detective should have been qualified as an expert and the State should have been obliged to fulfill the discovery obligations attendant with calling an expert witness. *Collins*, 172 So. 3d at 741-742 (Miss. 2015).

During the course of Agent Lukacs' testimony, after Defense counsel's second objection, the Court acknowledged that the opinions being offered constituted expert testimony. (R. p. 477, line 20 – p. 478, line 18). However, the Court incorrectly treated Agent Lukacs' *scientific* testimony (which is based upon physics, and the manner in which cell phone signals are transmitted and recorded) as *experience testimony*, explicitly declining to conduct a "peer review" analysis under *Jones* and instead stating that "it's similar to bloodhound expert." (R. p. 478, lines 6-18).

The most recent South Carolina Court of Appeals case regarding expert testimony standards and bloodhound experts, *State v. White*, specifically notes that testimony based upon "practical experience" such as bloodhound testimony, is treated differently than testimony that is based on "scientific evidence." *White*, 382 S.C. at 377. With respect to the

admission of scientific evidence, the Court must consider “(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.” *Id.* at 376 (citations omitted). Conducting this analysis prior to the admission of scientific testimony is critical in order to “**prevent the fact finders from being misled by the aura of infallibility surrounding unproven scientific methods.**”<sup>5</sup> *Id.* (emphasis added). In short, the Court erroneously found that Agent Lukacs’ expert testimony was properly admissible because it applied the wrong standard.

Further, while the Court did qualify Agent Lukacs as an expert during the trial, she does not appear to have disclosed as an expert beforehand, such that the Appellant was deprived of the right to secure his own expert to contest the reliability of Agent Lukacs’ opinions. This allowed the State to present these findings as indisputable fact to the jury, which profoundly prejudiced the defense of the case.

**3) THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS RULING REGARDING EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT’S PRIOR FELONY CONVICTION UNDER RULE 609 AND RULE 403.**

**A. THE COURT APPLIED THE INCORRECT LEGAL STANDARD IN ITS RULE 609 ANALYSIS**

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