ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Horry County
Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

OCT 28 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MARQUIS SPENCER MCDONALD,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2014-002181

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101477
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 1276
Conway, South Carolina 29528
(843) 915-5460

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

Harmless Error

Even if the Court were to find the trial court abused its broad scope of discretion, any error in admitting Lukacs's testimony was harmless because appellant's guilt was established by other competent evidence at trial. *See Livingston*, 282 S.C. at 6, 317 S.E.2d at 132 (holding an error admitting evidence is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where guilt is proven by other competent evidence, such that the error could not have reasonably affected the result at trial). While Lukacs used maps to aid the jury in understanding her testimony, much of it was

cumulative to Lynch's testimony. Lynch put into chronological order the communications from appellant's phone to create a timeline of the hours leading up to the murder. Lynch read to the jury a lengthy series of text messages between appellant and the victim setting up the drug deal, and detailed for the jury the dates and times of other texts and phone calls between appellant and the victim, and appellant and McLain. (R.p.339; p.344; pp.347-54). Additionally, Lukacs's testimony corroborated appellant's admission on the stand that the phone found at the scene was his, any records from it were his, and that he was at the murder scene. (R.pp.507-508; p.525; p.527).

Appellant's conviction stemmed from the testimony of multiple witnesses and investigators, his own statement to police and those made at trial, and the corroboration of those details through evidence and the cell phone records of appellant, McLain, and the victim. *See Mizzell*, 349 S.C. at 333, 563 S.E.2d at 318 (holding factors of a harmless error analysis include whether the testimony is cumulative, the presence of evidence corroborating the testimony, and the importance of the testimony to the State's case). Accordingly, Lukacs's testimony regarding her review of cell phone records and maps of cell tower locations did not substantially affect the verdict and any error in admitting it was harmless.

III.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting appellant's prior conviction.

Introduction

The trial court did not err in admitting appellant's prior conviction where the court limited the introduction to simply "a prior felony conviction" and did not allow either party to name the specific charge. The court balanced multiple factors to limit the prejudice to appellant, and gave the jury a limiting instruction that the conviction was to be used for impeachment only. Any error admitting the evidence was harmless because appellant himself damaged his credibility by admitting he lied multiple times to investigators.

How the Issue Was Raised

Prior to appellant's testimony, defense counsel informed the trial court he spoke to appellant about the possibility of a previous conviction being used to impeach him. (R.p.491, line 22-p.492, line 13). Counsel stated appellant had a 2010 conviction for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). (R.p.492, lines 13-19). While acknowledging the conviction was for a charge punishable by imprisonment of more than one year, counsel argued ABHAN was "so closely related to [a murder] charge" that the prejudicial effect outweighed the probative value. (R.p.492, line 20-p.493, line 8). Counsel further asserted ABHAN was not a crime of dishonesty, to which the court replied, "No question, no question." (R.p.493, lines 8-16). Thereafter, the court stated, "there's no question" that the prior ABHAN conviction falls under Rule 609(a)(1), SCRE,¹⁰ which required that he conduct a Rule 403, SCRE¹¹ analysis to

¹⁰ The rule provides, for purposes of attacking the credibility of a witness:

[E]vidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was

determine if "the probative value outweigh[ed] the prejudice." (R.p.493, lines 17-22).

The trial court weighed the probative value of admitting the prior conviction and ruled it was too prejudicial to name the specific charge, but that it was admissible to simply state that appellant had a prior conviction:

First of all, it's 403 analysis, obviously [appellant's] credibility is a critical aspect of this. So there's no question it has probative value as to that aspect.

So from the standpoint of it, and the rule recognizes the right to bring it out for the purposes of impeachment, solely for that purpose.

...

And in that regard, I would agree with you, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature is very closely connected with the crime of murder. So I would allow the solicitor to ask him a question, have you been convicted of a felony, and were you convicted of a felony in whatever the year is. And that's really the extent that he can ask it. He can't go into details, he can't do anything else.

I think that balances the concern with respect to inferences to be drawn from the crime itself, and I think it protects him from undue prejudice on that respect. But I think the State's entitled to ask him about it for purposes of challenging his credibility. So I will allow it with that restriction.

(R.p.493, line 22-p.494, line 1; p.494, line 12-p.495, line 11). The court also cautioned defense

punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused; and

Rule 609(a)(1).

¹¹ The rule requires a trial court to exclude otherwise relevant evidence if "its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Rule 403.

counsel that discussing the sentence that appellant received would open the door for the State to cross-examine appellant on the specifics of the prior crime because it would "be fundamentally unfair if I allow you to talk about probation and how old [appellant was] and not allow the State to talk about the nature of the crime." (R.p.498, line 16-p.499, line 24).

As appellant's testimony began, defense counsel asked him, "Do you have one prior felony conviction?" to which appellant replied, "Yes, sir." (R.p.505, lines 13-15). Appellant then testified in detail about the instant crime and advanced his assertion that, while he was at the scene and participated in the marijuana deal, he did not plan to rob the victim and did not shoot him. (R.pp.503-533). Appellant's past conviction was not raised again and the State did not cross-examine him on it.

Importantly, and as the trial court noted it would do, the court gave a limiting instruction to the jury explaining that the prior conviction could only be considered for impeachment purposes:

Also you've heard testimony in this case of a prior conviction of a witness. That is testimony that may be considered by you in evaluating the credibility of that witness. You would consider it the same as any other factors that you would use to evaluate the witness and may only consider it for the purpose of evaluating credibility. And the fact that a person has a prior conviction does not make his testimony not credible nor does it make it credible. It's just another factor that you must decide in determining the credibility of that particular witness.

(R.p.582, line 20-p.583, line 5).

Analysis

No Prejudice

Generally, evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person to show he acted "in conformity therewith." Rule 404(b), SCRE. Evidence

of other crimes may be admissible to impeach a defendant's credibility. For prior convictions less than ten years old,¹² Rule 609(a)(1) provides a two-part test determine whether a defendant's prior convictions can be used to impeach him: (1) the conviction must have been punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year, and (2) the trial court must determine that the probative value of admitting the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused. Rule 609(a)(1). Prior convictions for the same or similar crimes, in particular, can be highly prejudicial; therefore, the court must determine, in its discretion, whether to admit the evidence after weighing the probative value against the prior convictions' prejudicial effect. *Green v. State*, 338 S.C. 428, 433, 527 S.E.2d 98, 101 (2000). To make that determination, our Supreme Court has noted the trial court should consider the following factors: (1) the impeachment value of the prior crime; (2) the point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history; (3) the similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; (4) the importance of the defendant's testimony; and, (5) the centrality of the credibility issue. *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 627, 525 S.E.2d 246, 248 (2000).¹³

Here, respondent acknowledges the trial court stated it must do a Rule 403 analysis, which requires exclusion of evidence if the probative value is **substantially outweighed** by the danger of unfair prejudice, when the proper determination was if the probative value of admitting

¹² Rule 609(b), SCRE, establishes a presumption against the admissibility of remote convictions, i.e., those more than ten years old, for impeachment unless the trial court expressly finds the probative value of the conviction "substantially outweighs" its prejudicial effect. *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 57, 609 S.E.2d 520, 522 (2005). Here, appellant's prior conviction occurred in 2010 and he was tried in 2014. Accordingly, the admission of the conviction is governed by Rule 609(a)(1).

¹³ While *Colf* involved the admission of prior convictions more than ten years old under Rule 609(b), our courts have implicitly recognized the value of the factors in making a similar determination under Rule 609(a)(1). See, e.g., *Green*, 338 S.C. at 433-34, 527 S.E.2d at 101 (discussing the issue in a PCR case and approving the use of the *Colf* factors in the context of a Rule 609(a)(1) analysis).

the evidence **outweighed** its prejudicial effect. *See* Rule 609(a)(1), *supra*. However, the record does not indicate the court's analysis was unduly prejudicial to appellant. First, the record shows the court properly considered the *Colf* factors. The court specifically balanced the conviction with the centrality of appellant's credibility, the importance of appellant's testimony to the theory of his defense, as well as the nature of the underlying offense of ABHAN and its similarity to murder. (R.pp.494-95); *see also Colf*, 337 S.C. at 627, 525 S.E.2d at 248 (listing the factors a trial court should consider to determine whether to admit the fact of a prior conviction). The court's analysis was partly in appellant's favor because it ultimately ruled the nature of the underlying offense was inadmissible because it was too prejudicial, while allowing the fact of appellant's single felony conviction to be admitted. *See Green*, 338 S.C. at 433, 527 S.E.2d at 101 (holding that prior convictions for similar crimes are particularly prejudicial and a trial court must determine whether to admit the evidence after conducting the required balancing test). Second, the court's ruling that counsel could not discuss the sentence appellant received further demonstrated its concern about the potential for prejudice to appellant as the court stated, if counsel referenced the sentence, it opened the door for the State to bring up the nature of the past offense. Third, the conviction was mentioned only once by defense counsel, likely in an effort to lessen its impact on appellant's credibility, and was not raised again by counsel or by the State during its cross-examination of appellant. Fourth, the court properly gave a limiting instruction to the jury explaining appellant's past conviction could only be considered for impeachment purposes. Finally, counsel failed to bring the court's alleged erroneous analysis to its attention before proceeding with appellant's testimony which prevented the court from correcting any error before the trial continued.¹⁴ Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting

¹⁴ Appellant argues the trial court's admission of the evidence was plain error. However, our

appellant's prior conviction.

Harmless Error

Regardless, even if the Court were to find the trial court abused its discretion, any error in admitting the prior conviction was harmless because appellant's guilt was established by other evidence at trial which was more damaging to appellant's credibility than the introduction of the prior conviction. *See Livingston*, 282 S.C. at 6, 317 S.E.2d at 132 (holding an error admitting evidence is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where guilt is proven by other competent evidence, such that the error could not have reasonably affected the result at trial). Investigators proved appellant lied to them about his relationship with Stephon McLain through surveillance video which showed the two of them together prior to the murder and the video was introduced to the jury. (R.pp.312-13; pp.407-10). Appellant himself admitted to the jury that he lied multiple times to investigators, including when he told them he tried to grab the gun during the struggle to make it look like he "didn't have nothing to do with it." (R.pp.505-06; p.516). Additionally, the other evidence implicating appellant in the crime was extensive. The evidence included testimony from multiple witnesses and investigators, appellant's statement to police, and the corroboration of those details through evidence such as bullets and bullet casings, cell phone records, a selfie from the phone found at the scene which indicated it belonged to appellant, and text messages read to the jury. *See Mizzell*, 349 S.C. at 333, 563 S.E.2d at 318 (holding factors of a harmless error analysis include whether the testimony is cumulative, the presence of evidence corroborating the testimony, and the importance of the testimony to the

appellate courts have routinely held the plain error rule does not apply in South Carolina state courts. *State v. Sheppard*, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (citations omitted). Instead, a party must make a specific and contemporaneous objection to preserve an issue for appellate review. *Johnson*, 363 S.C. at 58, 609 S.E.2d at 523. Accordingly, respondent submits this argument fails because our courts do not recognize the rule and because defense counsel's failure to object to the court's analysis regarding the prior conviction waived the issue.

State's case). Accordingly, the single mention of appellant's past conviction did not substantially affect the verdict and any alleged error in admitting it was harmless.¹⁵

¹⁵ Appellant also argues the cumulative effect of the trial court's evidentiary errors resulted in substantial prejudice to appellant. However, this argument is not properly before the Court because defense counsel did not raise the cumulative error doctrine to the trial court and did not argue appellant was entitled to a new trial based on the doctrine. Rather, counsel simply stated, "Your Honor, at this time on behalf of the defendant, I would make a motion for a new trial." (R.p.605, lines 8-10). Accordingly, respondent submits the argument is not preserved for appellant review. *See State v. Beekman*, 405 S.C. 225, 236, 746 S.C.2d 483, 489 (Ct. App. 2013), *aff'd*, 415 S.C. 632, 785 S.E.2d 202 (2016) (finding the cumulative error doctrine must be specifically raised to the trial court to be preserved for review).

Regardless, the argument is without merit because, as discussed above, the trial court did not err in his rulings. Respondent submits appellant failed to demonstrate to this Court that the admissions adversely affected his right to a fair trial. *See State v. Johnson*, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999) (holding an appellant must demonstrate more than error to qualify reversal pursuant to the cumulative error doctrine; rather, he must also show the errors adversely affected his right to a fair trial). Accordingly, respondent submits the cumulative error doctrine is not applicable to this appeal.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.